MODULE 4

WHO IMPLEMENTATION TOOL FOR PRE-EXPOSURE PROPHYLAXIS (PrEP) OF HIV INFECTION

JULY 2017





WHO/HIV/2017.26

© World Health Organization 2017

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization.

Suggested citation. WHO Implementation tool for pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) of HIV infection. Module 4: Leaders. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see http://www.who.int/about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Layout by L'IV Com Sàrl, Villars-sous-Yens, Switzerland.

Cover Photos: © JohnRaeNYC

Contents

INTRODUCTION	2
THE LEADERS MODULE	4
HIV epidemic continues to devastate.	5
Policies can help prevent HIV	5
Research shows that PrEP works when taken regularly	6
Medicines used for PrEP are safe for all populations.	6
Specific policies needed to expand HIV treatment and PrEP	6
PrEP is becoming more available.	6
PrEP can be cost-effective	7
PrEP offers many social benefits	7
Conclusion	7
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION	8
Questions and answers on PrEP	8
FURTHER READING	2
REFERENCES	3

Introduction

Following the WHO recommendation in September 2015 that "oral pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) should be offered as an additional prevention choice for people at substantial risk of HIV infection as part of combination HIV prevention approaches", partners in countries expressed the need for practical advice on how to consider the introduction of PrEP and start implementation. In response, WHO has developed this series of modules to support the implementation of PrEP among a range of populations in different settings.

Although there is growing acknowledgement of PrEP's potential as an additional HIV prevention option and countries are beginning to consider how PrEP might be most effectively implemented, there has been limited experience with providing PrEP outside research and demonstration projects in low- and middle-income countries. Consequently, there is often uncertainty around many implementation issues. The modules in this tool provide initial suggestions for the introduction and implementation of PrEP based on currently available evidence and experience. However, it is recognized that this evidence may evolve following wider PrEP use; therefore, it is likely that this tool will require regular updating.

PrEP should not replace or compete with effective and well-established HIV prevention interventions, such as comprehensive condom programming for sex workers and men who have sex with men and harm reduction for people who inject drugs. Many people who could benefit most from PrEP belong to key population groups that may face legal and social barriers to accessing health services. This needs to be considered when developing PrEP services. Although the public health approach underpins the WHO guidance on PrEP, the decision to use PrEP should always be made by the individual concerned.

Target audience and scope of tool

This PrEP tool contains modules for a range of stakeholders to support them in the consideration, planning, introduction and implementation of oral PrEP. The modules can be used on their own or in combination. In addition, there is a module for individuals interested in or already taking PrEP. (See Summary of modules below.)

This tool is the product of collaboration between many experts, community organizations and networks, implementers, researchers and partners from all regions. The information presented is aligned with WHO's 2016 consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for HIV treatment and prevention.

All modules make reference to the evidence-based 2015 WHO recommendation on PrEP. They do not make any new recommendations on PrEP, focusing instead on suggested implementation approaches.

Guiding principles

It is important to adopt a public health, human rights and people-centred approach when offering PrEP to those at substantial risk of HIV. Similar to other HIV prevention and treatment interventions, a human rights-based approach gives priority to issues concerning universal health coverage, gender equality and health-related rights including accessibility, availability, acceptability and quality of PrEP services.

SUMMARY OF MODULES



Module 1: Clinical. This module is for clinicians, including physicians, nurses and clinical officers. It gives an overview of how to provide PrEP safely and effectively, including: screening for substantial risk of HIV; testing for HIV before initiating someone on PrEP and how to follow up PrEP users and offer counselling on adherence.



Module 2: Community educators and advocates. Community educators and advocates are needed to increase awareness about PrEP in their communities. This module provides information on PrEP that should be considered in community-led activities that aim to increase knowledge about PrEP and generate demand and access.



Module 3: Counsellors. This module is for staff who counsel people as they consider PrEP or start taking PrEP and support them in coping with side-effects and adherence strategies. Those who counsel PrEP users may be lay, peer or professional counsellors and healthcare workers, including nurses, clinical officers and doctors.



Module 4: Leaders. This module aims to inform and update leaders and decision-makers about PrEP. It provides information on the benefits and limitations of PrEP so that they can consider how PrEP could be effectively implemented in their own settings. It also contains a series of frequently asked questions about PrEP.



Module 5: Monitoring and evaluation. This module is for people responsible for monitoring PrEP programmes at the national and site levels. It provides information on how to monitor PrEP for safety and effectiveness, suggesting core and additional indicators for site-level, national and global reporting.



Module 6: Pharmacists. This module is for pharmacists and people working in pharmacies. It provides information on the medicines used in PrEP, including on storage conditions. It gives suggestions for how pharmacists and pharmacy staff can monitor PrEP adherence and support PrEP users to take their medication regularly.



Module 7: Regulatory officials. This module is for national authorities in charge of authorizing the manufacturing, importation, marketing and/or control of antiretroviral medicines used for HIV prevention. It provides information on the safety and efficacy of PrEP medicines.



Module 8: Site planning. This module is for people involved in organizing PrEP services at specific sites. It outlines the steps to be taken in planning a PrEP service and gives suggestions for personnel, infrastructure and commodities that could be considered when implementing PrEP.



Module 9: Strategic planning. As WHO recommends offering PrEP to people at substantial HIV risk, this module offers public health guidance for policy-makers on how to prioritize services, in order to reach those who could benefit most from PrEP, and in which settings PrEP services could be most cost-effective.



Module 10: Testing providers. This module is for people who provide testing services at PrEP sites and laboratories. It offers guidance in selecting testing services, including screening of individuals before PrEP is initiated and monitoring while they are taking PrEP. Information is provided on HIV testing, creatinine, HBV and HCV, pregnancy and STIs.



Module 11: PrEP users. This module provides information for people who are interested in taking PrEP to reduce their risk of acquiring HIV and people who are already taking PrEP – to support them in their choice and use of PrEP. This module gives ideas for countries and organizations implementing PrEP to help them develop their own tools.



Module 12: Adolescents and young adults. This module is for people who are interested in providing PrEP services to older adolescents and young adults who are at substantial risk for HIV. It provides information on: factors that influence HIV susceptibility among young people; clinical considerations for safety and continuation on PrEP; ways to improve access and service utilization; and inclusive monitoring approaches to improve the recording and reporting of data on young people.

ANNEXES

Review of evidence. A wide range of evidence including the following two systematic reviews informed the 2015 WHO recommendation on PrEP for people at substantial risk of HIV infection: (i) Fonner VA et al. Oral tenofovir-based HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) for all populations: a systematic review and meta-analysis of effectiveness, safety, behavioural and reproductive health outcomes; (ii) Koechlin FM et al. Values and preferences on the use of oral preexposure prophylaxis (PrEP) for HIV prevention among multiple populations: a systematic review of the literature.

Annotated Internet resources. This list highlights some of the web-based resources on PrEP currently available together with the stakeholder groups they are catering to. WHO will continue to provide updates on new resources.

The leaders module

- HIV transmission continues
- New approaches to combination HIV prevention are needed
- PrEP is a promising new intervention for people at substantial risk for HIV
 PrEP has been widely studied
- PrEP is highly effective and safe
 PrEP can be cost-effective

This module addresses leaders and decision-makers involved in making public policy on health, including ministers of health, ministers of finance and community advocates whose opinions and voices are essential to increase the focus on, funding for and delivery of effective HIV programmes.

United Nations 90 – 90 – 90 targets

- By 2020, 90% of all people living with HIV will know their HIV status.
- By 2020, 90% of all people with diagnosed HIV infection will receive sustained ART.

Prevention and treatment can be synergistic; both are needed to meet the United Nations fast-track 90 – 90 – 90 targets for ending the AIDS epidemic (1). The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends supporting and strengthening prevention alongside treatment. (See the WHO *Guideline on when to start antiretroviral therapy and on pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV*.¹) Effective implementation of these recommendations, along with other existing prevention approaches, requires political and policy action at all levels.

In 2016, WHO also released the *Global health sector strategy on HIV 2016–2021*, which calls for rapid acceleration of the global HIV response over the coming few years followed by sustained action through to 2030 and beyond. This can only be achieved through renewed political commitment, additional resources, and

technical and programmatic innovations (2). The strategy promotes a people-centred approach grounded in principles of human rights and health equity.

WHO strongly recommends offering **antiretroviral therapy (ART)** to all individuals diagnosed as HIV-positive regardless of the duration of infection or the severity of their disease (3). This *Treat all* approach can save more lives, prevent both horizontal and vertical transmission, and reduce the spread of tuberculosis, which often occurs among people living with HIV who are not receiving ART (4-6).

WHO also recommends the use of **pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP)** for people at substantial risk of acquiring HIV(*3*). PrEP is the daily use of tenofovir (TDF) or a combination of tenofovir and emtricitabine (FTC) (also known as Truvada®) to prevent people who do not have HIV from acquiring it. These antiretroviral medicines used for PrEP have been shown to be safe and effective in preventing HIV infection when taken as prescribed.

People at substantial risk of acquiring HIV, who might benefit from using PrEP, include:

"I know condoms protect me from getting HIV and STI infection but I would like to have PrEP as I could control it by myself and it kills the fear of getting AIDS."

Sex worker Sonagachi brothel, India

- people in serodiscordant couples (that is, when one person has HIV and the other person does not) until the person with HIV is fully virally supressed on ART;
- people from key populations in many settings (such as sex workers, men who have sex with men, people who inject drugs and transgender people);
- young women in places with a high HIV incidence in southern and eastern Africa.

1 Available at http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/guidelines/earlyrelease-arv/en/.

WHO recommendations

- Antiretroviral therapy (ART) should be initiated in all children, adolescents and adults living with HIV at any CD4 cell count.
- Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) containing an antiretroviral drug called tenofovir should be offered as an additional prevention choice for people at substantial risk of HIV infection as part of combination prevention approaches.

Implementing PrEP involves more than just ensuring the supply of medicines. PrEP programmes also involve regular testing for HIV, screening for other sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and adherence support, and linking to treatment any people who receive a reactive result when they are tested for HIV before starting PrEP or who seroconvert (that is, who test HIV-positive for the first time while using PrEP).

PrEP is as an additional HIV prevention choice. It should not replace or undermine other effective and well-established HIV prevention interventions. PrEP is intended as an additional prevention choice. Its implementation should not replace or undermine other effective and well-established HIV prevention interventions, such as condom programming and harm reduction for people who inject drugs. PrEP should be offered as part of a comprehensive testing, prevention and treatment service.

The goal of this module, together with the other modules in this WHO *PrEP implementation tool* is to build on the WHO PrEP recommendations and help to ensure that PrEP is offered appropriately and for maximum benefit.

HIV epidemic continues to devastate

Despite progress against HIV, more than 2 million people still acquire HIV every year (7). Each person with HIV requires lifelong ART to stay healthy and alive and to prevent further transmission. In 2016, 18 million people in the world were on ART. This figure equates to half of the 36.7 million people with HIV now eligible for ART following the new WHO *Treat all* recommendation.

The HIV epidemic has had a devastating impact on humanity, disrupting families, contributing to unemployment, undermining productivity and interrupting schooling. In addition, it contributes to social marginalization and to stigma and discrimination against many vulnerable populations, including sex workers, men who have sex with men, people who inject drugs, transgender people and migrants.

Policies can help prevent HIV

Policy change can make a crucial difference in efforts to end the AIDS epidemic. Policy can assure that the national response to HIV broadens the reach of HIV treatment and includes PrEP within the context of a comprehensive prevention approach. Where people with HIV or at high risk of acquiring HIV are criminalized or discriminated against, reviewing and revising policies and laws as needed is important to establish the equitable access to services that is essential for an effective HIV response.

Policy change may be necessary at many levels, including making HIV prevention and treatment a national priority; revising policies on who can provide services (including task sharing so that nurses or other appropriate providers can deliver ART and PrEP services); introducing regulatory policies that allow antiretroviral drugs to be used for prevention; and improving procurement processes to ensure a consistent supply of medicines and laboratory reagents at affordable prices. "'How can you afford to implement this new intervention?' I always reply, 'How can we afford not to?' Once you answer this question you will find the way to make it happen. However, we must ensure that the PrEP offer is part of a comprehensive approach to prevention."

> Dr. Aaron Motsoaledi Minister of Health, South Africa

Research shows that PrEP works when taken regularly

More than 10 rigorous clinical trials have shown that PrEP prevents HIV acquisition.

Unlike many other interventions, there is substantial evidence from research trials supporting the efficacy of PrEP. More than 10 clinical trials, with participants from a total of 18 countries, have shown that, used for PrEP, antiretroviral drugs containing TDF, or a combination of TDF and FTC, effectively prevent HIV acquisition. In these trials, the risk of acquiring HIV decreased by more than 90% when participants used PrEP consistently. The trials involved

both men and women in populations that carry a disproportionate burden of the HIV epidemic. The results of the trials have been published or presented at major meetings (8-17).

Medicines used for PrEP are safe for all populations

The medicines used for HIV treatment and PrEP have a good safety profile. Side-effects are not common; moreover, they are typically mild and resolve in the first few weeks of use.

Risk of drug resistance is uncommon, occurring in approximately one in every 1000 PrEP users in clinical trials, almost exclusively among people who already had acute, undetected HIV infection when they started PrEP. Therefore, testing people for HIV before they start PrEP is essential to avoid drug resistance. Offering PrEP reduces the number of new HIV infections, each of which would require lifelong ART with substantial ongoing risk of drug resistance. Thus, PrEP is expected to decrease the public health burden of HIV drug resistance.

PrEP appears to be safe during pregnancy and breastfeeding. The risk of HIV acquisition during pregnancy and breastfeeding and the accompanying increased risk of mother to child HIV transmission far outweigh any potential risk of fetal or infant exposure to TDF used for PrEP. Furthermore, PrEP can be an additional tool to help serodiscordant couples conceive safely.

Specific policies needed to expand HIV treatment and PrEP

Political leadership is needed to ensure that medicines regulatory authorities and public health officials review evidence for offering immediate ART to all people with HIV and offering PrEP to people who do not have HIV but face substantial risk of acquiring it.

Policies may need adaptation so that people who do not have HIV can use HIV treatment drugs for prevention. Political leadership is also necessary to commit the resources required for effective implementation of these policies.

Regulatory policy and approval

Several countries already include PrEP in their national HIV strategies. In other countries, policies may need to be expanded or adapted to permit the use of HIV treatment medicines for prevention by people who do not have HIV. For example, in most countries post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP) is widely accepted for use in HIV prevention after needle stick injury among healthcare workers or after sexual assault or other sexual exposure. The antiretroviral drugs used for PEP can be prescribed off-label based on expert medical opinion and without government regulatory approval. A similar approach could be considered for PrEP, particularly as a way to make PrEP available quickly without waiting for a lengthy regulatory process. Some countries, however, have sought, or are seeking, the formal approval of medicines regulatory authorities for the use of TDF/FTC for prevention. As of June 2017, TDF/FTC has been approved for PrEP in more than 15 countries and is under consideration in many more.

Procurement and supply chain

Since the medicines for PrEP and PEP are already used to treat HIV infection, they are currently available in most countries. Coordinated procurement and distribution systems are vital to ensure cost-effectiveness and prevent gaps in the supply of these medicines, which could lead to treatment failure, HIV transmission and drug resistance. Negotiations at the international and national levels will be important to ensure that medicines and laboratory supplies are purchased at the lowest available prices.

PrEP is becoming more available

Although PrEP is still not widely available in most countries and the number of people on PrEP is still low, its use is increasing in some parts of the world. For example, there have been an estimated 100 000 PrEP users in the United States since 2012, when the regulatory authorities in that country approved the use of TDF/FTC for PrEP. Plans to scale up use of PrEP are being carried out in an increasing number of countries in all regions.

7

PrEP can be cost-effective

Ultimately, HIV treatment and PrEP save money.

Expanded HIV treatment and PrEP require resources for salaries, training, medicines and laboratory testing. Ultimately, however, investing in these

services may save money. Treatment prevents complications of HIV infection, which are expensive to treat and in some instances, such as tuberculosis, can be transmitted to others.

PrEP will also save costs because:

- PrEP prevents new HIV infections among its users, thereby averting the costs of lifelong ART.
- As PrEP also prevents onward transmission to others, additional cases of HIV infection will be averted, further avoiding the need for HIV treatment.
- Since people who would benefit from PrEP are those at greatest risk of infection, the impact-for-cost ratio of PrEP will be relatively high compared with other prevention approaches.
- PrEP is not a lifelong treatment; rather, it is used during specific periods of risk, therefore, costs are incurred on an *ad hoc* basis only.

In many countries, the medicines used for HIV treatment and PrEP are now available in generic form at low cost. As of 2016, the average unsubsidized price paid by low- and middle-income countries for the medicines used for PrEP is approximately US\$ 32.24 for TDF alone and US\$ 55.10 for TDF/FTC per person treated per year (*18*).

PrEP offers many social benefits

PrEP has mobilized people in the struggle for better health.

PrEP can strengthen global HIV treatment initiatives by decreasing the number of people who require lifelong treatment. It may also increase HIV testing by

motivating people at higher risk of infection to test for HIV. This could result in increased and earlier diagnosis of people with HIV and their linkage to treatment. In addition, PrEP can provide another prevention option for people at ongoing HIV risk, particularly where other prevention choices may be difficult to use consistently or when people are unable to insist on condom use – for example, women who consider their partners to be at high risk of HIV although they have not been tested, or women whose partners are infected and not virally supressed on ART.

PrEP services are likely to attract people at higher HIV risk, who may also have other health and social needs. Therefore, PrEP access can serve as the gateway to additional social and health services, such as prevention and treatment of other STIs, contraceptive services, and counselling and social support.

PrEP can decrease HIV stigma by broadening the social responsibility for preventing HIV infection. It also offers a new option for serodiscordant couples, especially in the context of safer conception. PrEP has started to reinvigorate HIV prevention and to mobilize communities and people at ongoing HIV risk to call for more prevention choices.

HIV treatment, PrEP and PEP are important services that can have significant benefits in reducing HIV-related illnesses and deaths and preventing new HIV infections. Putting these services at the centre of national HIV plans can foster broad-based support in communities and countries.

Conclusion

Although implementing PrEP poses challenges in planning, managing and funding combination HIV prevention, it also offers new opportunities for accelerating the global HIV response. Realizing the promise of PrEP will require governments, funders, civil society and other stakeholders to join forces to systematically address important issues such as the licensing of antiretroviral medicines for PrEP use, setting priorities for locations and populations for implementation, making services user-friendly and ensuring adherence.

"New York is leading the fight against AIDS, and this program will ensure individuals with the greatest risk of exposure can receive the support they need to stay healthy. [...] Expanding PrEP assistance is a critically important step toward eradicating the AIDS epidemic in this state."

> Andrew Cuomo Governor of New York, USA

"Maintenant que la PrEP a montré qu'elle fonctionne, il me semble que l'extension de l'accès à la PrEP n'est pas seulement une affaire de politique de santé publique, mais un droit humain impératif." ["Now that PrEP has been shown to work, access to PrEP is not only a public health policy matter, but an imperative human right."]

Francoise Barre-Sinoussi Research director at the INSERM, France

Supplementary information

Questions and answers on PrEP

What is PrEP?

PrEP stands for pre-exposure prophylaxis. It is the use of antiretroviral drugs by people who do not have HIV infection in order to prevent them from acquiring HIV. By definition it is a chemoprophylaxis.

PrEP tends to denote oral PrEP, which involves taking tablets orally. Other forms of PrEP are currently under investigation, including the use of a long-acting injectable and a vaginal ring.

Why do we need another option to prevent HIV?

Rates of new HIV infections globally have not fallen significantly over the past five years and continue to be high in some parts of the world and among some populations. Therefore, additional prevention choices are needed, such as PrEP, which can have benefits both for individual and public health. PrEP is being considered by many countries as an additional prevention choice for people at substantial risk of acquiring HIV – as part of combination HIV prevention programmes.

What is the evidence supporting the effectiveness of PrEP?

Most research on PrEP has focused on two antiretroviral drug regimens: TDF alone and TDF in combination with FTC. Based on high-quality evidence, the use of PrEP by any person at substantial risk of acquiring HIV infection is strongly recommended.

Twelve trials on the effectiveness of oral PrEP (TDF alone or TDF/FTC) have been conducted. These trials were held among a variety of populations, including serodiscordant couples, heterosexual men, heterosexual women, men who have sex with men, people who inject drugs, and transgender people. These trials took place in Africa, Asia, Europe, Latin America and the United States. Implementation projects, often referred to as demonstration projects, are underway in many countries to examine how PrEP can be offered in the frame of existing health services.

Is PrEP recommended by WHO?

Yes. In September 2015, WHO issued a strong recommendation supporting the implementation of PrEP for HIV prevention for people at substantial HIV risk. This recommendation is based on high-quality evidence obtained through a systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical research findings on PrEP. This systematic review conducted by WHO considered data from 15 randomized controlled trials and three observational studies and demonstration projects. Seven of the randomized controlled trials were double-blind placebo-controlled trials.

What does WHO actually recommend?

WHO recommends that people at **substantial risk of HIV** should be offered PrEP. In 2014, WHO recommended offering PrEP to men who have sex with men. On the basis of further evidence of the effectiveness and acceptability of PrEP, in September 2015 WHO broadened the recommendation to include all population groups at substantial risk of HIV infection.

Offering PrEP should be a priority for populations with an HIV incidence of approximately three per 100 person-years or higher. PrEP should be considered as an additional prevention choice in a comprehensive package of services, for various people and in various settings, and that also includes HIV testing, counselling, male and female condoms, lubricants, antiretroviral treatment for partners with HIV infection, voluntary medical male circumcision and harm reduction interventions for people who use drugs.

Who is PrEP for?

PrEP is for all people at substantial risk of HIV infection. PrEP can be particularly beneficial for people who are unable to use other HIV prevention methods, for example people who struggle using condoms or have barriers to condom use.

PrEP has sometimes been erroneously viewed as an option solely for men who have sex with men. Even though a majority of PrEP users globally are men who have sex with men, PrEP is also effective in women and other men. Thus, current

implementation efforts are also focusing on offering PrEP to women at substantial risk for HIV, including sex workers in some countries – particularly in sub-Saharan Africa, transgender women in most regions, and adolescent girls and young women in high incident settings in southern and eastern Africa. Among serodiscordant couples, the HIV-negative partner may benefit from taking PrEP when the partner with HIV infection is not virally suppressed on ART. PrEP may also be considered for women who would like to become pregnant when they have a partner with HIV who is not virally supressed on ART or who has not been tested but is at high risk of HIV.

PrEP is not suitable for everyone; moreover, it is not intended for lifelong use.

Which medicines can be used for PrEP?

Most of the evidence that PrEP is efficacious comes from clinical trials that have investigated TDF/FTC. One key trial, the Partners PrEP trial, showed that TDF alone and TDF/FTC had similar efficacy in reducing transmission of HIV in serodiscordant heterosexual couples. From a regulatory approval perspective, most countries that have approved PrEP have given authorization for a fixed-dose combination of TDF/FTC. In the future, there may be other medicines and formulations for PrEP.

Is PrEP always effective in preventing HIV infection?

PrEP provides very high levels of protection when used consistently. Clinical trials to date have shown that, when PrEP is taken properly, it can provide very high levels of protection from HIV infection (>90% reduction in HIV risk).

However, when the medicines are not taken as directed, PrEP effectiveness may be significantly lower. PrEP demonstration projects have shown that the majority of people, including people at substantial HIV risk, can adhere to PrEP consistently. However, adherence will benefit from regular encouragement and support at the individual level to address challenges in regular pill-taking.

Does PrEP protect against any other STIs?

PrEP prevents HIV infection when used consistently; however, its protection is limited to HIV. PrEP does not protect against STIs such as viral hepatitis infection, syphilis, gonorrhoea or chlamydia, nor does it offer women any protection against unintended pregnancy.

Is PrEP safe?

PrEP has an excellent safety profile. Across 10 randomized controlled trials, rates of adverse events did not differ between PrEP and placebo arms. TDF-containing PrEP may have an impact on the kidneys. Therefore, renal function needs to be examined prior to initiating a person on PrEP and monitored during PrEP use.

TDF is also recommended by WHO to treat hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection. PrEP containing TDF can be used safely in people with HBV. Not all people with evidence of chronic HBV infection require treatment (see the WHO *Guidelines for the prevention, care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis B infection*)(*19*). If HBV treatment is indicated, daily oral PrEP containing TDF can be used for treatment of HBV and HIV prevention concurrently. If PrEP is stopped, consideration should be given to continuing another active HBV treatment (if indicated) to avoid the risk of virological and clinical flares.

Can PrEP be used during pregnancy and breastfeeding?

All data reviewed by WHO show that PrEP is safe during pregnancy and breastfeeding. The antiretroviral drugs used for PrEP – TDF alone or TDF/FTC – are frequently used for HIV treatment in combination with other antiretroviral drugs. In 2016, WHO conducted a systematic review that specifically examined the safety of PrEP. The main conclusion of that review was that there does not appear to be a safety-related rationale for disallowing or discontinuing PrEP during pregnancy and breastfeeding for HIV-negative women who are at continuing risk of HIV acquisition.

What package of prevention services should be provided along with PrEP?

HIV testing is needed before a person is initiated or restarted on PrEP. Re-testing is also needed to ensure there is no HIV breakthrough infection.

Condoms should be offered to all PrEP users. Condoms are the mainstay of HIV prevention among sex workers, who should be empowered to demand the use of condoms with clients. Clean injection equipment and opioid substitution therapy are the mainstay of HIV prevention among people who inject drugs, and should be made available. The reproductive desires of all PrEP users should be assessed and contraception provided whenever requested.

People at substantial risk for HIV infection are also at risk for other STIs, therefore, testing and treatment of STIs or syndromic management should be available. Counselling should be client-centred and interactive and include the formulation of individualized plans for protection from HIV and other STIs as well as the attainment of reproductive goals. Hepatitis B vaccination should be provided if the vaccine is available. ART is recommended for people who test HIV-positive. Sexual partners who are HIV-positive should be offered HIV treatment.

Will PrEP cause people to stop using condoms or have more sexual partners?

Condom use has been studied in-depth in the clinical trials that have established PrEP effectiveness. No evidence was reported of a decrease in condom use or an increase in the number of sexual partners after people started using PrEP.

It is important to recognize that while some people use condoms consistently, many – if not most – do not. Condoms are used less frequently if pregnancy is desired or is not a concern, or if there is a wish for greater intimacy. Periods of substantial HIV risk are often characterized by little or no condom use or frequent changes in sexual partners. PrEP may be valuable during such periods, when sexual exposure to HIV is already high.

Does PrEP cause HIV drug resistance?

The risk of HIV drug resistance is low during PrEP use, occurring in approximately one in 1000 PrEP users in clinical trials. The occurrence of drug resistance in those trials was almost exclusively among people who had acute undetected HIV infection when they started PrEP.

What are the costs associated with PrEP uptake – both in high uptake and lower uptake scenarios?

The costs of PrEP are lower than treatment costs, partly because the medicines used for PrEP are less expensive than full combination therapy used to treat HIV infection. Furthermore, while PrEP is used during periods of risk, treatment of HIV is a lifelong intervention. Furthermore, treated HIV infection is sometimes associated with medical conditions that require costly treatment, for example cardiovascular disease and certain types of cancer.

A large portion of the cost of PrEP is the price of the medicines, which is as low as US\$ 32.24 per person per year for TDF and US\$ 55.10 per person per year for FTC/TDF in many countries.

Are there other PrEP medicines being investigated?

Topical and longer-acting PrEP medicines and formulations are being investigated, which could provide more choice and improve long-term adherence. These include slow-release dapivirine in vaginal rings, long-acting cabotegravir injections and subcutaneous implants with TDF derivatives. If they prove to be effective, they may also be tested in combination with contraception.

Where is PrEP being implemented?

Many countries are considering adopting the WHO recommendation for oral PrEP and are looking at how to balance the introduction of PrEP with other prevention options and the critical need to offer HIV treatment to all people with HIV.

PrEP is being distributed in the context of clinical trial research, pilot projects and larger-scale demonstration projects.

PrEP is also available informally in most countries from Internet sources. In addition, PrEP is often available formally through private healthcare providers. The country with the largest number of PrEP users is currently the United States, where clinical guidance for PrEP was first issued in 2011 and regulatory approval of TDF/FTC was given by the Food and

Drug Administration in 2012. Since then, over 100 000 people have been prescribed PrEP. In Europe, France was the first country to approve the use of TDF/FTC for PrEP and offer it under its social healthcare system. Norway and Scotland are also now offering PrEP under their national health systems.

In Africa, there are many countries that are beginning to implement PrEP, particularly in regions where HIV incidence remains high (for example, eastern and southern Africa). Currently, South Africa and Kenya have the most ambitious plans for the roll out of PrEP. PrEP programmes for adolescent girls, young women and sex workers are being considered in several high burden countries, including as part of the PEPFAR DREAMS programme.

In the Asian-Pacific region, Australia is implementing PrEP – with an estimated 10 000 PrEP users enrolled in a number of PrEP demonstration projects. TDF/FTC has regulatory approval in Australia, although it is not currently being reimbursed by health authorities.

Several countries In Latin America participated in the first large multi-country PrEP clinical trial called iPrEx. Brazil has plans to implement PrEP throughout the country under its public health system. Other countries in the region are looking to implement PrEP among populations at high risk of HIV infection, particularly men who have sex with men and transgender persons.

Do you need regulatory approval for PrEP?

Each country's medicines regulatory agency is responsible for authorizing the use of antiretroviral drugs for HIV prevention. Some countries may decide to make PrEP available off-label, while other countries may elect to have an indication for PrEP. In order to have an indication for PrEP, the manufacturer has to file a dossier with the national medicines regulatory agency.

To date, more than 15 countries have provided medicine manufacturers with marketing authorization (regulatory approval) for the use of TDF/FTC as PrEP. Approval is pending in at least a further 10 countries.

Further reading

Guideline on when to start antiretroviral therapy and on pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/guidelines/earlyrelease-arv/en/).

Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral therapy: a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/arv/arv-2016/en/).

National HIV/AIDS Strategy: Updated to 2020. Washington (DC): United States of America Office of National AIDS Policy; July 2015 (https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/docs/national_hiv_aids_strategy_update_2020.pdf).

Beyrer C, Bekker LG, Pozniak A, Barre-Sinoussi F. Pre-exposure prophylaxis works – it's time to deliver. Lancet. 2015; 385(9977):1482–4).

References

- 1. Fast-track ending the AIDS epidemic by 2030. Geneva, Switzerland: 2014.
- 2. Global health sector strategy on HIV, 2016-2021. Towards ending AIDS. World Health Organization. June 2016 (http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/246178/1/WHO-HIV-2016.05-eng.pdf?ua=1).
- 3. Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral therapy: a public health approach. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016 (http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/arv/arv-2016/en/).
- 4. Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, Gamble T, Hosseinipour MC, Kumarasamy N, et al. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(6):493-505.
- 5. Grinsztejn B, Hosseinipour MC, Ribaudo HJ, Swindells S, Eron J, Chen YQ, et al. Effects of early versus delayed initiation of antiretroviral treatment on clinical outcomes of HIV-1 infection: results from the phase 3 HPTN 052 randomised controlled trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2014;14(4):281-90.
- The INSIGHT START Study Group. Initiation of Antiretroviral Therapy in Early Asymptomatic HIV Infection. N Eng J Med. 2015:Published online July 20, 2015.
- 7. Prevent HIV, test and treat all WHO support for country impact. Progress report 2016. World Health Organization; 2016 (http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/progressreports/2016-progress-report/en/).
- 8. Peterson L, Taylor D, Roddy R, Belai G, Phillips P, Nanda K, et al. Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate for prevention of HIV infection in women: a phase 2, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. PLoS Clin Trials. 2007;2(5):e27.
- 9. Grant RM, Lama JR, Anderson PL, McMahan V, Liu AY, Vargas L, et al. Preexposure Chemoprophylaxis for HIV Prevention in Men Who Have Sex with Men. N Engl J Med. 2010.
- 10. Baeten JM, Donnell D, Ndase P, Mugo NR, Campbell JD, Wangisi J, et al. Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV prevention in heterosexual men and women. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(5):399-410.
- 11. Thigpen MC, Kebaabetswe PM, Paxton LA, Smith DK, Rose CE, Segolodi TM, et al. Antiretroviral preexposure prophylaxis for heterosexual HIV transmission in Botswana. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(5):423-34.
- 12. Van Damme L, Corneli A, Ahmed K, Agot K, Lombaard J, Kapiga S, et al. Preexposure prophylaxis for HIV infection among African women. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(5):411-22.
- 13. Grohskopf LA, Chillag KL, Gvetadze R, Liu AY, Thompson M, Mayer KH, et al. Randomized Trial of Clinical Safety of Daily Oral Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate (TDF) Among HIV-uninfected Men Who Have Sex With Men (MSM) in the United States. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013.
- 14. Choopanya K, Martin M, Suntharasamai P, Sangkum U, Mock PA, Leethochawalit M, et al. Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV infection in injecting drug users in Bangkok, Thailand (the Bangkok Tenofovir Study): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2013;381(9883):2083-90.
- 15. Marrazzo JM, Ramjee G, Richardson BA, Gomez K, Mgodi N, Nair G, et al. Tenofovir-based preexposure prophylaxis for HIV infection among African women. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(6):509-18.
- 16. McCormack S, Dunn DT, Desai M, Dolling DI, Gafos M, Gilson R, et al. Pre-exposure prophylaxis to prevent the acquisition of HIV-1 infection (PROUD): effectiveness results from the pilot phase of a pragmatic open-label randomised trial. Lancet. 2015.
- 17. Molina JM, Capitant C, Charreau I. On Demand PrEP With Oral TDF-FTC in MSM: Results of the ANRS Ipergay Trial Presented at: CROI; Seattle, Washington; 2015.
- 18. Global Price Reporting Mechanism [online database]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017. http://apps.who.int/ hiv/amds/price/hdd
- 19. Guidelines for the prevention, care and treatment of people with chronic hepatitis B infection. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 (http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/hepatitis/hepatitis-b-guidelines-policy/en/).

For more information, contact:

World Health Organization Department of HIV/AIDS 20, avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

E-mail: hiv-aids@who.int

www.who.int/hiv